FILED 
JUN 0 9 2016 

WASHINGTON STATE 
SUPREME COURT 

IN THE SUPREME COURT 
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

SUPREME COURT NO. C13a l ~ . 1 

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 72809-1-1 

DANIEL THOMPSON and THEODORE MISSEL WITZ, 

Appellants, 

vs. 

CITY OF MERCER ISLAND, 

Respondent, 

GIB DEVELOPMENT, LLC (ON THE ROCK, LLC) and ANDERSON 
ARCHITECTURE 

Additional Parties. 

PETITION FOR REVIEW 
I 

w 

-o 
------------------------------------------------~:X 

DANIEL P. THOMPSON 
WSBA No. 18189 
Thompson and Delay 
506 Second A venue, Suite 2500 
Seattle, W A 981 04 
Phone(206)622-0670 
Attorney for Appellants 

..r:-.. 
..... ~ ., ....... 
-'-' 
L~)(F; 

z.~~~ 
z<

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Daniel Thompson and Theodore Misselwitz, appellants below, 

hereby petition for review of the Court of Appeals decision identified in 

Part II. 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Appellants seek review of the Court of Appeals unpublished 

opinion issued by the Court of Appeals for Division One in the case of 

Thompson and Misselwitz v. City of Mercer Island, et al. (March 14, 2016) 

No. 72809-1-1 (App. 1 hereto). On May 4, 2016 the Court of Appeals 

issued its Order Granting Additional Parties' Motion for Reconsideration 

and Amending Opinion, Granting Motion to Publish, and Denying 

Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration (App. 2 hereto), from which 

appellants petition for review. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

The central issue raised in this petition is whether dismissal of the 

LUPA petitions to the superior court under CR 12(b) based upon the 

administrative record was error when the LUPA petition was timely filed 

and served, all available administrative remedies had been exhausted, a 

final land use decision had been issued, the petitioners are directly 

adjacent landowners who allege injury to their property, it is conceded one 

adjacent landowner will suffer injury in fact, the defense of lack of 
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standing was not raised at the administrative level, and petitioners were 

not allowed to supplement the administrative record with evidence of 

standing. In its decision affirming dismissal the Court of Appeals 

rendered the following holdings that conflict with existing precedent or 

statute. 

1. According to GIB's motion to publish, the Court of 

Appeals' decision creates a unique LUP A pre-trial motion procedure that 

allows notice requirements under CR 12(b) along with review of the 

underlying administrative record, but a burden of proof based upon the 

merits under RCW 36.70C.l30. This holding is in direct conflict with 

LUPA's provision in 36.70C.030(2) that states the rules of civil procedure 

apply to the initial hearing, and the holding in Suquamish Indian Tribe v. 

Kitsap Co., 92 Wn. App. 816, 827 (1998). 

2. Dismissal of Thompson's petition for failure to allege or 

prove injury in fact under CR 12(b) based on the underlying 

administrative record is an error of law in conflict with Supreme Court and 

Division One precedent. (The Court of Appeals' decision fails to address 

the procedural motion applicable to dismissal, CR 12(b) or CR 56, or the 

applicable burden of proof.) 

3. The trial court's dismissal of Thompson's petition based 

upon an absence of "actual harm," and the Court of Appeals' holding that 
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harm cannot be "presumed" under CR 12 (b) from a permit decision, is in 

conflict with the project permit vesting statutes and holding in JZ. Knight 

v. City ofYelm, 173 Wn.2d 325, 341-344 (2011). 

4. Dismissal of Thompson's and Misselwitz's petitions for 

lack of standing without affording either the opportunity to supplement the 

administrative record with evidence of standing is in conflict with the 

holding in Lauer v. Pierce Co., 173 Wn.2d 242, 254 (2011). (The Court 

of Appeals' decision fails to cite or address Lauer.) 

5. The administrative record, even without supplementation 

under Lauer, establishes injury in fact for Thompson, and in the 

alternative the motions to dismiss were untimely under King Co. LR 12( d) 

and CR 56, both of which require 28 days notice. 

6. The Court of Appeals' decision holds that Misselwitz 

lacked standing to appeal to the superior court because he did not submit 

written comments to the public notice of application and file his own 

administrative appeal, although Misselwitz participated to the full extent 

allowed at the open record hearing. The sole authority for the Court of 

Appeals' sweeping holding is MICC 19.15.020(E)(2)(e). Decision, p. 5. 

This provision, however, does not even exist in the MICC, (See App. 3, p. 

11 ), and is in direct conflict with the project permit statute RCW 

36.70B.110, and the holding in Citizens for Mt. Vernon v. City of Mt. 
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Vernon, 133 Wn.2d 861, 868-71 (1997), quoted with approval in Lauer, 

173 Wn.2d at 255. 

7. The Court of Appeals holding that the public notice issued 

by the City stating participation by Misselwitz at the open record hearing 

vested Misselwitz with standing to appeal to the superior court was 

ineffectual because it conflicted with provisions under the MICC is in 

conflict with Division Three's holding in Prosser Hill Coal v. Co. of 

Spokane, 176 Wn. App. 280 (2009). 

8. The Court of Appeals' in a case of first impression held 

that substitution of a separate corporate defendant for the first time at the 

Court of Appeals is available under RAP 3.2 with relation back to the 

commencement of proceedings at the superior court without an analysis of 

inexcusable neglect or judicial estoppel, even when the transfer of interest 

was not pendent lite. This holding is in conflict with Miller v. Campbell, 

164 Wn.2d 529 (2008); Martin v. Dematic, 182 Wn.2d 281 (2014); and 

Stella Sales, Inc. v. Johnson, 97 Wn. App. 11, 17-20 (1999), and renders 

substitution or joinder at the superior court under CR 17(a), 19, or 25 

meaningless. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Introduction 
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This case arises under the Land Use Petition Act, RCW 36.70C, 

and involves preliminary approval of a short subdivision on Mercer Island, 

SUB13-008 (subdivision, year, sequential number of subdivision 

application.) 1 Petitioners Thompson and Misselwitz are directly adjacent 

landowners to the proposed subdivision. 

Both OTR and the City admit Thompson exhausted his 

administrative remedies and obtained a final land use decision, CP 61:11-

24; CP 85:17-19; RP 23:24-24:3 but argue that Thompson, unlike 

Misselwitz who is also an adjacent land owner, will not suffer the same 

injury in fact as Misselwitz would, or any injury.2 

Both OTR and the City concede that SUB 13-008 will cause 

Misselwitz injury in fact. Although no case holds that only the 

administrative appellant has standing under LUP A to appeal from an open 

record appeal hearing, the trial court dismissed Misselwitz's petition under 

CR 12(b) on the basis that although Misselwitz participated in the open 

record hearing Misselwitz's failure to submit written comments to the 

public notice of application, and to file his own separate administrative 

1 The City's February 3, 2014 preliminary approval begins at CP 117, and the pre
administrative hearing staff report begins at CP 107. The Planning Commission's 
Decision and Order dated July 28, 2014 can be found at CP 25-27. 

2 Throughout the administrative process, Thompson alleged that the preliminary approval 
ofthe subdivision will injure his property. See Dec!. of Thompson, CP 1391-1397; p. 
1396 para. 13; RP 39:8-40:6. See also, Summary of Thompson's requested relief 
CP1124-1127; notice of administrative appeal, CP 221-230; Brief of Administrative 
Appellant CP 347-385, exhibit index CP 386-395. 
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appeal, prevented Misselwitz from having standing to appeal to the 

superior court. CP 1577. 

The City's notice of open record hearing mailed to Thompson, 

Misselwitz and all landowners within 300 feet, and posted on a sign, 

stated: 

You may review the application and appeal on file 
for this matter at the City of Mercer Island, 
Development Services Group, 9611 SE 36th Street, 
Mercer Island, Washington. Only those persons 
who submit written comments or testify at the 
open hearing will be parties of record, and only 
parties of record will receive a notice of the 
decision and have the right to appeal. 

CP 1413-1416. (emphasis added). 

The Mercer Island Planning Commission's decision was not 

unammous. CP 1453, p. 110:19-22; CP 1450 p. 97:20-100:25. In fact, 

during the administrative hearing for SUB 13-008 the Planning 

Commission passed a motion prohibiting in the future the use of "tricks" 

and "games" like Tract X in any future subdivisions on Mercer Island. CP 

1453, p. 110:23-CP 1461, p. 137:22 (hearing transcript); CP 1463 

(minutes of hearing). As one Commissioner noted: "So the irony will be 

that we'll set a really good policy for the benefit of the future citizens, but 

the guy who contested over it loses out". CP 1457, p.l24: 10-12. 
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Neither OTR nor the City raised lack of standing at the 

administrative level even though the privilege log shows the City Attorney 

and the City's outside counsel were actively involved in the case as early 

as September and October 2013 respectively, CP 919, nine months before 

the July 23, 2014 administrative hearing (although Mr. Walter did not 

formally appear until the superior court, CP 43). 

B. Preliminary Approval of SUB13-008 

SUB 13-008 is a new three parcel short plat replacing an existing 

two lot short plat SUB 08-009 in a R-12 zone on Mercer Island. See 

Preliminary Approval, CP 117-134; plat map CP 138. The amended short 

plat creates three parcels: two lots, and "Tract X". Tract X is not a road or 

easement but a part of a road or easement and is approximately 6' of the 

required 18' width. CP 122-123. Tract X does not meet the area or 

dimension requirements for a lot in R-12. Id. 

The purpose and effect of Tract X is recited in the Court of 

Appeals decision, pp. 1-2, as well as in the City's and On The Rock's 

briefings at the Court of Appeals. On The Rock stated: 

Pursuant to Section 19.02.020(D) of the Mercer Island City 
Code (MICC), the maximum impervious surface of a lot is 
limited to 35 percent of its gross square foot area. Under 
this standard, the entire area of the original shared access 
easement under the 2009 short plat would be characterized 
as "impervious surface" for purposes of calculating the 
maximum coverage limitation for Lot 1. CP 122-23, CP 
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1320. The prior easement thus restricted the available area 
on Lot 1 for the building footprint, patios, driveways, 
overhangs, etc., each of which would be considered 
impervious surfaces under the MICC. Incorporating the 
newly created Tract X into the plat design allowed 
additional usable impervious surface area to be available 
for the ultimate development of that lot. CP 122-23. 

On The Rock opening brief, p. 4; see also City's opening brief, p. 2. 

According to OTR's calculations, Tract X results in a house 

approximately one-third larger than would be allowed under the MICC 

without Tract X. 

C. July 23, 2014 Planning Commission Hearing 

On July 23, 2014, a hearing was held before the Planning 

Commission in the above referenced appeal. Petitioners Thompson and 

Misselwitz submitted written comments and testified. CP 103 (Notice of 

Decision). Petitioner Misselwitz's testimony is found at CP 1439, p. 54-

56, and his letter at CP 1422. (Misselwitz is nearly 90 and his testimony 

involved reading his letter). 

The Commission held the MICC does permit Tract X, although 

administrative interpretation #07-05 specifically holds the opposite. See 

App. 6. The Planning Commission's decision was not unanimous. 

Commissioner McCann dissented. Commissioner McCann's testimony is 

in Exh. 8 to the appendix. 
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Since the definition of Tract under the MICC is open space, the 

Planning Commission had to hold that all roads, and all asphalt and 

impervious surface, is open space on Mercer Island in order to uphold 

Tract X. The Planning Commissions' testimony is attached in Exh. 9 to 

the appendix. 

Immediately after issuing its oral ruling, the Commission discussed 

and passed a motion requesting City staff prepare either an administrative 

interpretation or "proposal" to the City Council as soon as possible, 

prohibiting the use of such Tracts in the future, which it described as a 

"trick." CP 1445, p. 113:1- CP 1461, p. 137:2; CP 1463. A copy of the 

Planning Commission colloquy is found in App. 7 attached hereto. 

Ultimately, the Planning Commission amended the motion to read: 

"Request the City Council to direct staff to restrict the definition of tract 

and short plat as it relates to vehicular access." CP 1463. 

D. Procedure before the Superior Court 

The initial hearing on jurisdictional and preliminary matters was 

originally set under the civil case schedule for October 3, 2014. CP 30.3 

However, based upon the trial court's schedule the trial court rescheduled 

the initial hearing for October 31, 2014. On September 23 the City and 

3 RCW 36.70C.080(1) requires the preliminary hearing to be set between 35 and 50 days 
of the service of the LUPA petition. The LUPA petition was served August 14, 2014. 
The October 31, 2014 hearing was 79 days after the filing of the petition. 
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OTR emailed the trial court stating each would be filing motions to 

dismiss on jurisdictional and standing issues. CP 1548. On the afternoon 

of October 23, 2014 OTR and the City filed their motions to dismiss. CP 

54; 73. On the same afternoon of October 23, 2014, the City filed the 

1213 page administrative record ("AR"), CP 101-102, and 116 page 

administrative hearing transcript.4 CP 1258 although each were not 

required to be filed under the civil case schedule until November 17, 2014. 

CP 30. As noted in the declaration of service, the petitioners were served 

late in the afternoon on October 23, 2014 with an electronic copy of the 

administrative record, which had been remarked, and which obviously had 

been made available to the City, OTR, and the Applicant well in advance 

in order to prepare their motions to dismiss which were filed and served 

before the administrative record. CP 100. 

On October 31, 2014 a hearing was held before the trial court. On 

November 7, 2014 the trial court signed the City's proposed order granting 

OTR's and the City's motions to dismiss petitioners' LUPA petitions. CP 

4 The actual hearing transcript is 13 7 pages and can be found at CP 1426-1461. Although 
the petitioner was required to pay for transcribing the administrative hearing, and 
pursuant to RCW 36.70C110(1) petitioner is to file the transcribed hearing record, the 
City insisted on filing the transcript and only filed pages 1- 113 of the transcript. CP 
1259-1371. Pages 113-137 ofthe hearing transcript document the Planning 
Commission's discussion and motion to prohibit "Tract X" in any future subdivisions. CP 
1455-1461. 
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1575. The order notes the trial court considered the administrative record 

and administrative hearing transcript. The order of dismissal held: 

"(2) Petitioner Daniel Thompson lacks standing 
["absent actual harm" as interlineated by the 
Court] under, inter alia, RCW 36.70C.060(2); 
(3) Petitioner Theodore Misselwitz failed to 
exhaust required administrative remedies under 
the Mercer Island City Code (MICC 
19.15.020(1)) as required by RCW 
36.70C.020(2) and RCW 36.70C.060; (4) for the 
foregoing reasons the Court lacks jurisdiction 
under RCW 36.70C.020 to adjudicate 
Petitioners' claims in the LUPA Petition. 

CP 1576:16-21. 

E. On The Rock's Motion to Substitute GIB LLC for OTR 

On Monday, June 1, 2015, legal counsel in an umelated action on 

the property that is the subject of this petition appeared and emailed 

counsel in the matter a copy of a statutory warranty deed executed by On 

The Rock on August 12, 2014 conveying all interest in the property to 

another entity. The deed was filed August 19, 2014. 

The applicant Anderson Architecture and owner On the Rock were 

represented at the administrative level by the law firm of Lasher, Hozapel, 

Sperry, and Ebberson. Attorney Taro Kusonose signed the Applicant's 

and On the Rock's brief to the Planning Commission. CP 344. Mr. 

Kusonose was the notary on the August 12, 2014 deed. 
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On August 14, 2014 petitioners filed and served their LUPA 

petition pursuant to RCW 36.70C.040(2). On August 14, 2014 petitioners 

served a courtesy copy of the petition and civil case schedule on Mr. 

Kusonose. CP 36-37. The deed was filed August 19, 2014. Lasher was 

the filing and receipt agent on the deed. 

OTR filed a motion to substitute GIB under RAP 3.2. Appellants 

argued the supporting declarations clearly established inexcusable neglect, 

and substitution at the Court of Appeals was not available when the 

transfer of interest was not pendent lite. When appellants later learned 

that attorney Goerge Holzapfel removed himself as registered agent for 

both OTR and GIB on the same day appellants served their notice of 

appeal, appellants moved for judicial estoppel on the basis the failure to 

disclose the conveyance was a litigation strategy. 

V. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION CREATES A UNIQUE 
PRE-TRIAL PROCEDURE THAT CONFLICTS WITH EXISTING 

PRECEDENT AND RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 

King County LCR 7(b )(1) states that " [E]xcept when specifically 

provided in another rule, this rule governs all motions in civil cases," 

listing LCR 12. LCR 12(d) notes that motions under CR 12(b) shall be 

subject to the page limitations and scheduling requirements of CR 56 and 

LCR 56. LCR 56(2) states filing deadlines shall be pursuant to CR 56 and 

the order setting civil case schedule. 
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CR 12(b) notes that if on a motion under 12(b )( 6) for failure to 

state a claim upon which relief can be granted matters outside the 

pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the trial court, the motion 

shall be treated as one for summary judgment and the parties shall be 

given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such 

a motion . In this matter OTR and City filed their motions to dismiss 

under CR 12(b) time lines, but based their motions on the underlying 

administrative record. 

Both OTR and the City's motions to dismiss are replete with 

references to the record, and the "minimal effect" of SUB 13-008. OTR 

even attached documents from the Administrative Record to its motion to 

dismiss (CP 66-69), and brought blow ups of exhibits to the oral argument. 

RP 25:24-26:22. In its motion to dismiss OTR characterized SUB 13-008 

as a "minor configura! modification of a pre-existing short plat" CP 54: II. 

20-21, to alleviate "implicated certain development inefficiencies that 

unnecessarily restricted future use of the property" CP 55: 17-18 in the 

previous subdivision concerning "the 'impervious surface' restriction 

codified at Section 19.02.020(0) of the Mercer Island Code (MICC), 

which limits the maximum impervious surface of a lot to 35 percent of its 

gross square foot area" CP 55: 11. 23--CP 56: 11.1. 
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The City likewise in its motion to dismiss argued the de minimus 

impacts of SUB 13-008, which it described as "literally just moved lines 

on a piece of paper," CP 89: 11. 10-11, and that the neighbors' concerns 

over the already filed construction building plans for two houses were 

"blah, blah; that's pure speculation" (RP 19: 21 ). 

The following testimony is from the October 31, 2014 initial 

hearing before Judge Bradshaw: 

"MR. WALTER: Secondly, we're not here to talk about the 
merits of the case at all. I know petitioners in their briefing 
made some argument that the City and, I think, the other 
parties were trying to argue the merits and we were not. 
The information that was provided and the fact --

THE COURT: How can I evaluate the extent of any harm 
without doing that?" 

RP P.6, 11. 6-12. 

The Court in Suquamish Tribe v. Kitsap Co., 92 Wn. App. 816, 

823 ( 1998) held that the rules of civil procedure are not inconsistent with 

LUPA, citing RCW 36.70C.030(2). The Court stated: 

The Screens contend that this statute creates a 
unique LUP A pre-trial motion. But there is nothing 
in the statute to suggest that "motions" do not 
include CR 12 motions or summary judgment 
motions under CR 56( c). Rather, the statute seems 
to require simply that any motions based on 
jurisdictional or procedural issues be made at an 
initial hearing. We therefore apply the summary 
judgment standard of review. 
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ld at 827. "Local rules that are inconsistent with rules adopted by the 

Washington Supreme Court shall be disapproved." State v. McEnroe, 175 

Wn.2d 795, 808 fn. 7 (20 12). 

The Court of Appeals' decision never addresses or discusses which 

rule-CR 12 (b) or CR 56-is applicable to the motions to dismiss, and 

the applicable burden of proof. The decision creates a unique and 

fundamentally unfair pre-trial motion procedure. Since the local 

jurisdiction controls the administrative record, this unique pre-trial 

procedure allows the filing of the motions to dismiss along with the 

administrative record under CR 12(b) timelines that are then based on the 

underlying administrative record with a burden of proof based on the 

merits under RCW 36.70C.130. 

VI. ALLEGATIONS OF FINANCIAL AND AESTHETIC HARM 
MUST BE PRESUMED TO BE TRUE UNDER CR 12(b), AND IN 

THE ALTERNATIVE THE MOTIONS TO DISMISS UNDER CR 56 
WERE UNTIMELY 

Appellants' assignments of error three, four, and six raise related 

issues. The first is a petitioner is not required to "prove" harm under CR 

12(b) but simply to allege it; second, the motions to dismiss were untimely 

under both LR 12(d) and CR 56; and three, harm or injury in fact arises 

from the project permit, and it's vesting, and not from the actual 

construction under the permit. 
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In their opening brief, the appellants cited Division I's holding in 

Durland v. San Juan Co., 175 Wn. App. 316 (2013), and quoted in full the 

holding from West v. Stahley, 155 Wn. App. 691, 696 (2010), setting forth 

the burden applicable to motions under CR 12(b). Appellants' opening 

brief, p. 31-32. See also FutureSelect v. Tremont Holdings, 180 Wn.2d 

954,962-63 (2014); Woodwardv. Taylor, 184 Wn.2d 911,917 (2016). 

The Decision states "Thompson does not cite authority allowing a 

court to presume harm." Decision at 10. However, each of the cases cited 

above requires the appellate court to presume petitioners' allegations to be 

true, and further hold the Court can consider hypothetical facts supporting 

the claim, and dismissal is proper only if the court finds beyond a 

reasonable doubt no possible set of facts support recovery. 

In appellants' second statement of supplemental authority, they 

cited Burlington v. Liquor Control Board, 187 Wn. App. 853 (2015). 

Division One held that there is no quantum of harm necessary, and an 

"identifiable trifle" is sufficient to establish injury in fact. 5 

5 Appellate courts have held aesthetic injury to property is equal harm to financial injury. 
See, Bierman v. City ofSpokane, 90 Wn. App. 817, 824 (1998) (Court of Appeals 
reversed the superior court and held as a matter of law a garage constructed beyond the 
permit and code caused the neighbor harm, including light and air blockage, and rejected 
the permit suas ponte.) Patterson v. Segale, 171 Wn. App. 251,260 (2010) (Court of 
Appeals held the potential of a proposed bulkhead "to produce 'a negative effect on the 
petitioner's aesthetic enjoyment of the shoreline in this area"' considering the resolution 
of the claims is all the more immediate, concrete, and specific.) (The court, however, 
noted the parties' settlement of the issue rendered it moot.) 
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The Court of Appeals' decision in this matter holds as a matter of 

law a directly adjacent landowner who alleges financial and aesthetic harm 

fails to establish injury in fact under CR 12(b). This holding is clearly in 

conflict with the holding in Knight that in general parties owning property 

adjacent to a proposed project who allege that the proposed project will 

injure their property have standing, and discussing the importance of 

preliminary plat approval within the scheme and planning of subdivisions. 

Knight at 340-343. 

VII. APPELLANTS MUST BE AFFORDED THE OPPORTUNITY 
TO SUPPLEMENT THE RECORD WITH EVIDENCE OF 

STANDING 

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case does not cite or discuss 

the holding in Lauer, although appellants' quoted Lauer in full in their 

response to the motions to dismiss at the superior court, CP 13 82-83, and 

their opening brief to the Court of Appeals. p. 43-44, and Motion for 

Reconsideration and Response to Motion to Publish. 

It is indisputed that neither the City nor OTR raised lack of 

standing at the administrative level, and therefore the Planning 

Commission never addressed standing. Under Lauer, Thompson must be 

afforded the opportunity to supplement the administrative record with 

additional evidence of standing if necessary. 
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Appellants respectfully submit that a bright line rule is preferable 

in this issue, and ask the Supreme Court to hold that a party's failure to 

raise lack of standing at the administrative level waives standing at the 

superior court. Such a holding would be in keeping with the Supreme 

Court's decisions in Lauer and Durland emphasizing the importance of 

raising and adjudicating issues of standing at the administrative level. 

VIII. A CITIZEN WHO PARTICIPATES IN AN OPEN RECORD 
HEARING HAS STANDING TO APPEAL TO THE SUPERIOR 

COURT 

The Court of Appeals' decision holds Misselwitz, and by definition 

every citizen statewide, must file written comments to a permit 

application, and file a separate administrative appeal, in order to have 

standing to appeal to the superior court. Decision at p. 5, citing MICC 

19.15.020(E)(2)(e). This code provision does not exist in the MICC. 

19.15 .020(E) relates to public notice of a decision, not an application. 

This is more than a scrivener's error. It is a fundamental re-writing 

of the project permit statute RCW 36.70B.110, the MICC, and existing 

case law. This error is predicated on a misunderstanding of the sequential 

order of public notice for 1) a permit application, 2) decision, and 3) open 

record hearing. 

D. Notice of Application 
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2. The notice of application shall include the following 
information: 

g. A statement of the public comment period, which shall be not 
less than 14 days nor more than 30 days following the date of 
notice of application; and a statement of the rights of individuals to 
comment on the application, receive notice and participate in any 
hearings, request a copy of the decision once made and any appeal 
rights; 

App. 3, p. 9. 

E. Public Notice of Decision. 

1. In addition to the notice of application, a public notice is 
required for all administrative, discretionary, and legislative 
actions listed in MICC 19.15.010(E). 

2. Public notice shall be provided at least ten days prior to any 
required open record hearing. If no such hearing is required, 
public notice shall be provided I 0 days prior to the decision on the 
application. 

3. The public notice shall include the following: 

e. A statement that only those person who submit written comments 
or testify at the open record hearing will be parties of record; and 
only parties of record will receive notice of the decision and have 
the right to appeal; 

(emphasis added) 

App. 3, p. 11-12. 

J. Appeals. 

1. Any party on a decision may file a letter of appeal on the 
decision. Appeals shall be filed with the city clerk within 14 days 
after the notice of decision or after other notice that the decision 
has been made and is appealable. MICC 19.15(1). 
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4. Public notice of an appeal shall be provided in the manner 
specified in subsection E of this section. 

App. 3, p. 16-17. 

The decision does not cite any case law for its holding, or the 

distinction between a member of the public and an administrative 

appellant. Indeed, the decision's holding is directly contradicted by the 

Supreme Court's holding in Citizens for Mount Vernon v. City of Mount 

Vernon, 133 Wn.2d 861, 868-71 (1997), quoted with approval in Lauer, 

173 Wn.2d at 255 ( a citizen's three-minute testimony at the open record 

hearing satisfied the exhaustion of administrative remedies since that was 

the only remedy available to the citizen). 

IX. CONCLUSION 

Appellants respectfully request the Supreme Court grant review, 

reverse the Court of Appeals' decision, and either hold Thompson and 

Misselwitz have established standing or remand to the superior court to 

determine whether lack of standing was timely raised and established, 

allowing appellants the opportunity to submit additional evidence if 

necessary.