# RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jul 05, 2016, 1:33 pm

### RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93219-1

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### DANIEL THOMPSON and THEODORE MISSELWITZ,

Appellants,

VS.

### CITY OF MERCER ISLAND,

Respondent,

# GIB DEVELOPMENT LLC (ON THE ROCK LLC) and ANDERSON ARCHITECTURE,

Additional Parties.

## RESPONDENT CITY OF MERCER ISLAND'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT THOMPSON'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

### V. ARGUMENT FOR DENIAL OF REVIEW

This Court should deny discretionary review because Thompson's Petition fails to satisfy the criteria for accepting review in RAP 13.4(b).

A. Criteria Governing Acceptance of Discretionary Review.

Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Additionally, despite filing more than nine motions with the Court of Appeals, including two motions to supplement the record, Thompson never asked the Court of Appeals to consider evidence of standing outside of the administrative record.

- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Thompson's Petition does not cite to RAP 13.4(b), and his "Issues Presented for Review" do not include discussion of the criteria included in RAP 13.4(b). Rather, his Petition merely restates the legal arguments unsuccessfully offered to the City's Planning Commission, the trial court and the Court of Appeals. Thompson's failure to address, let alone satisfy, RAP 13.4(b) is by itself sufficient basis for this Court to deny review.

To the extent that this Court proceeds, the City offers the following additional argument.

B. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Is Consistent with Decisions of This Court and Other Divisions of the Court of Appeals.

In reviewing Thompson's Petition, the City is unable to identify any portion in which Thompson actually identifies a conflict with other appellate decisions, as opposed to his mere disagreement with the decision of the Court of Appeals below. "Where contentions raised on appeal are not supported by citation of authority [this Court] will not consider them unless well taken on their face." *Griffin v. Dept. of Social and Health Sycs.*, 91

Wn.2d 616, 630, 590 P.2d 816 (1979) (citing *State v. Kroll*, 87 Wn.2d 829, 558 P.2d 173 (1976)).

## 1. Thompson Did Not Establish the Land Use Decision Prejudiced Him and Therefore Lacked Standing.

Thompson incorrectly asserts that the administrative record establishes injury in fact as to him. At no point in the administrative process did Thompson allege that he will suffer an injury-in-fact as a result of the City's land use decision. Thompson cites CP 1391-1397 to support his claim that he alleged throughout the preliminary approval process that the short subdivision will injure his property. This is a citation to his declaration in support of his response to the City's Motion to Dismiss before the Superior Court. Thompson declares that "[t]o understand the harm to Mr. Misselwitz and Thompson it's necessary to briefly review the City's actions in this matter beginning in 2008." CP 1393. Thompson then alleges only generally that SUB 13-008 violates the MICC and Comprehensive Plan and allows houses that are inconsistent with the neighborhood. CP 1396, ¶ 13. His allegations of harm consisted of mere generalized, theoretical harm rather than any specific injury as to him. He did not, and cannot, establish the prejudice needed for standing under LUPA because he has failed to show he would suffer an injury-in-fact. Decision at 8 - 11. Thompson's status as an adjacent landowner who merely alleges general and abstract harm does not

suffice. Knight v. City of Yelm, 173 Wn.2d 325, 341-43, 267 P.3d 973 (2011) ("a conjectural or hypothetical injury will not confer standing") (internal citation omitted); see also Chelan County v. Nykreim, 146 Wn.2d 904, 935, 52 P.3d 1 (2002) (to have standing, a petitioner's interest "must be more than simply the abstract interest of the general public in having others comply with the law.").

## 2. The City's and GIB Development's Motions to Dismiss Were Timely.

The City's and GIB Development's motions to dismiss were timely filed consistent with the applicable Case Schedule Order issued by the King County Superior Court, which reflects state law's expedited review and timely appeal provisions under LUPA. CP 28-30. The Case Schedule Order specifically states: "Motions on jurisdictional and procedural issues shall comply with Civil Rule 7 and King County Local Rule 7, except that the minimum notice of hearing requirement shall be 8 days." CP 29 (emphasis added). Division I held that "[w]e conclude it is most consistent with the statute [RCW 36.70C.080(2)-(4)] to interpret the local rule as including a motion to dismiss for lack of standing in the category of a motion on a jurisdictional or procedural issue. Such motions under the case schedule order require only eight days' notice." Thompson asks this Court to disregard the Case Schedule Order's clear direction regarding an eight-day

minimum notice requirement and to instead extend the notice requirement to 28 days. Thompson fails to provide any legal authority in support of his position that the Case Schedule Order should be disapproved. An issue lacking adequate argument and supported by only conclusory statements should not be considered. *See Amalgamated Transit v. State*, 142 Wn.2d 183, 203, 11 P.3d 762 (2000).

# C. No Significant, Constitutional Issue or Substantial Public Interest Is Involved to Justify Review by This Court.

This case presents no significant, constitutional issue under either the state or federal Constitutions; instead, this is a garden-variety LUPA appeal dismissed by the trial court, and which dismissal was affirmed by Division I, due to Thompson's lack of standing. Put simply, Thompson failed to allege any actual harm caused by the City's decision to approve the preliminary short plat application. Rather, it seems Thompson's goal was to ensure the City's zoning regulations were followed – essentially a private attorney general-type role – that is simply too abstract to confer standing in the absence of any specific injuries to him or his property. As stated in *Chelan County v. Nykreim*, 146 Wn.2d 904, 935, 52 P.3d 1 (2002), to have standing, a petitioner's interest "must be more than simply the abstract interest of the general public in having others comply with the law."

Further, Thompson's Petition fails to include an argument that substantial public interest justifies review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Division I of the Court of Appeals applied well-established standing principles to the specific facts at issue. Given the fact-specific inquiry to determine whether Thompson lacked standing to pursue his LUPA appeal, no substantial public interest justifies review here.

# D. <u>Thompson's Arguments on Behalf of Theodore Misselwitz Should Not Be Considered.</u>

In his Petition, Thompson purports to represent Theodore Misselwitz, yet Thompson filed a Motion to Withdraw from Representation of Appellant Theodore Misselwitz with Division I, effective May 30, 2016. The Motion to Withdraw from Representation of Appellant Theodore Misselwitz is submitted herewith as Appendix A. Thompson is no longer Misselwitz's designated counsel and no representative relationship exists currently between the two. Accordingly, this Court should not consider Thompson's arguments related to standing on behalf of Mr. Misselwitz. *See* Petition, at 5 – 6, 18-20.

### VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review. The Court of Appeals correctly applied well-established precedent to affirm the dismissal of a land use appeal due to Appellant Thompson's lack of standing. The criteria in

RAP 13.4(b) have not been met, and Thompson simply reiterates his previously unsuccessful arguments in a conclusory manner. This case is not worthy of the Supreme Court's resources for review, and Appellant Thompson's Petition should be denied.